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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS  

EASTERN DIVISION  

  

Ranulfo Teran, Elena Corona, Juan G. Lara, Mario I. Lara,  ) 

Arturo Lara, Saul Cruz, Emma Cisneros, Cesar Herrera,   ) 

Daisi Cisneros, Angel Herrera, Ken Nash, Linda Abrahamson,  ) 

Aned Hernandez, Lynn Jones, Herbert Wolff, Esteban Barrera, Jr..,) No.: 

Reyna Velazquez, Nahucelio Guadalupe, Inocencia Guadalupe,  ) 

Jean Piatrowski, Roberto Flores, Sylvia Bahena Navarro, Wendy ) 

Lara, Denise Lara, Javier Sanchez, Juan Carlos Rodriguez,  ) 

Lucy Bravo, Leonardo Bravo, Elias Carreno, Maria Carreno,  ) 

Esteban Barrera, Sr., Mercedes Barrera, Jose A. Guillen, Ernesto )  

Garcia, Leonardo Chan, Claudia Chan, Osvaldo Chavez,   ) 

Evangelina Ortiz, Felipe Ortiz, Pablo Moncada, Felipe L.   ) 

Moncada, Elina Martinez, Fernando J. Manrique, Linda Lara,  ) 

Eloy Hernandez, Marciela Hernandez, Javier Barrera, Mai   ) 

Dolores Barrera, and Alejandra Barrera,     ) 

         )  

  Plaintiffs,      ) 

         ) Jury Trial Demanded 

 v.        ) 

         ) 

Village of Wheeling,       ) 

         ) 

  Defendant.      ) 

 

COMPLAINT AND REQUEST FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 NOW COME Plaintiffs named in Exhibit A, (Homeowners), by and through her attorney, 

Kelli Dudley of the Law Office of Kelli Dudley, and, based on personal knowledge, alleges as 

follows as for their Complaint against the Village of Wheeling, Illinois:   

INTRODUCTION 

1. Defendant Village of Wheeling, Illinois (Defendant) and its agents are seeking to 

force Homeowners from their homes, approximately forty mobile homes along the Des Plaines 

River, by enforcing code violations in a discriminatory manner. Homeowners own the mobile 

homes and pay rent for the lot on which the mobile homes are placed.  
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2. Homeowners experienced flooding of their homes due to a flood of the Des 

Plaines river. In most cases, the water did not rise above the skirting of the mobile home. Skirting 

is a decorative form of shingles or siding applied to the exterior of a mobile home to cover the 

open space between the ground and the bottom of the mobile home. If water is below the top of 

the skirting, it has not reached the actual mobile home. Defendant has, nonetheless, effectively 

condemned the mobile homes by citing the owners with code violations. When the homeowners 

try to remediate the alleged violations, they are denied required building permits by Defendant. 

In some cases, inspections are performed and no code violations are cited. The very same 

property is inspected the next month and a violation is noted and citation issued even though 

there has been no change in the property. A Village of Wheeling employee told one Homeowner 

he might as well prepare to move.       

PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. Defendant Village of Wheeling, Illinois is a municipal corporation located in 

Cook County, Illinois. The Village is governed by a Village President, Dean Argiris, who is white 

and a Village Board, of which each member is white. Authority for the daily operation of village 

government is delegated to Village Manager Jon A. Sfondilis, who is white. Defendant employs a 

Director of Community Development, Mark Janeck, who is white. 

4. At relevant times, Defendant perpetrated its conduct below individually and/or by 

and through its agents, over whom Defendant Village of Wheeling, Illinois exerted operational 

control concerning the facts at bar.  

5.   All of the facts set forth in this Complaint took place in the County of Cook and 

State of Illinois.   

6. Homeowners all live in the County of Cook, State of Illinois. 
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7. The subject property is located in the Village of Wheeling, County of Cook, State 

of Illinois. 

8. This matter involves a Federal statute, the Fair Housing Act This is an action for 

violation of 42 U.S.C. §3601 et seq. (Fair Housing Act). This Court has original jurisdiction over 

this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 (federal question). 

9.  Venue is proper in the Northern District of Illinois pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 

because Defendant is a municipal corporation subject to personal jurisdiction this district. 

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

 10. Defendant lists demographics of its population at 24.2 percent Hispanic and 56.7 

percent White. Homeowners live in a community area and mobile home park recognized as Fox 

Point. All but five households, or about 88 percent, of Fox Point households include people of 

Hispanic national origin. 

http://www.wheeling.il.us/Business/PDF/ComprehensivePlan_2003.pdf, p. 35  (last accessed 

9/8/2013). 

 11. Defendant maintains a “comprehensive plan.” It states: “Since Wheeling has 

relatively little single-family housing for upper income buyers, what land is available for new 

housing should be reserved for this market.” 

http://www.wheeling.il.us/Business/PDF/ComprehensivePlan_2003.pdf, p. 17 (last accessed 

9/8/2013). 

 12. The Comprehensive Plan singles out the mobile home park as a problem area. A 

map shows the residential area including the predominantly-Hispanic mobile home park 

eliminated:  

“The portion of the Milwaukee Avenue corridor between Manchester Avenue and 

Palwaukee Municipal Airport at the south end of the Village is one of Wheeling’s biggest 

challenges in terms of future land use. The current land use mix includes single-family 
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houses, a mobile home park, old and new multi-family developments, and a variety of 

commercial, industrial and airport uses. The Village’s corporate boundaries are irregular 

along this portion of the corridor, which limits Wheeling’s ability to control the future 

development and ensure that the existing developments are properly maintained. The 

Future Land Use Plan calls for a more consistent land use pattern with commercial uses 

along the west side of Milwaukee Avenue, except for property along Industrial Drive, 

where industrial and airport-related uses are recommended.”  

http://www.wheeling.il.us/Business/PDF/ComprehensivePlan_2003.pdf, pp. 42, 43 (last 

accessed 9/8/2013). 

 

 13. In 2012, the Village of Wheeling adopted a Building Code adding to Section 116 

a provision that if a building is damaged to the point it cannot be repaired for less than 50 percent 

of its value, it can only be rebuilt or replaced for “conforming” uses. 

http://www.wheeling.il.us/ReferenceDesk/FormsAndPermits/ConstructionCodesAndLocalAmen

dments.pdf, pp. 17, 18 (last accessed 9/8/2013). 

 14. In April 2013, the Homeowners experienced flooding of their homes. 

 15. Defendant’s Building Code allows the owner of a damaged building six months to 

begin repairs on the building and 18 months of diligent work to complete the repairs. 

http://www.wheeling.il.us/ReferenceDesk/FormsAndPermits/ConstructionCodesAndLocalAmen

dments.pdf, pp. 17, 18 (last accessed 9/8/2013). 

 16. Despite this time allowance, Homeowners have been subject to constant 

harassment by Defendant’s agents, including, but not limited to Mark Janeck. This includes, but 

is not limited to: 

 a. Repeated property inspections. 

 b. Inconsistent property inspections where no violation is found on the first 

inspection but significant violations are found on the re-inspection. 

 c. Citations for violations that are refuted by independent evidence. 

 d. Denials of work permits to allow repair of the damage or alleged damage to begin 

within the six-month time frame allowed by the Building Code. 
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 e. Citations for violations before time has elapsed for the repairs to be done or where 

Homeowners apply for a required building permit to correct the alleged violation. 

 f. Comments by Mark Janeck and other officials employed by Defendant that 

Homeowners should prepare to leave or should sell him their property for $5,000.00—well under 

the market value. 

 17. The revised Building Code unfairly targets Homeowners because the 50 percent 

damage limitation is more easily reached when assessing a mobile home that when assessing a 

single-family home. 

 18. The revised Building Code is selectively enforced against Homeowners. For 

example, a predominantly White community along the Des Plaines river was similarly flooded in 

April 2013. The City provided pumps and worked to mitigate the losses of the predominantly-

White community and did not issue citations for building code violations or otherwise taking 

action against the White residents whose homes were flooded and damaged in the same way as 

those belonging to Homeowners. 

 19. The Building Code is selectively enforced against Hispanic Homeowners to 

eliminate their mobile-home community. 

 20. The Comprehensive Plan calls for the elimination of the Hispanic Homeowners 

and their mobile-home community. 

 21. The Comprehensive Plan does not provide sufficient replacement housing within 

the redevelopment areas to allow displaced Hispanic residents to remain in the Village of 

Wheeling. 
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 22. Enforcement of the Comprehensive Plan, Building Code, and other actions by 

Defendants against Homeowners will eliminate the Hispanic enclave represented by 

Homeowners and their mobile home community. 

 CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE FAIR HOUSING ACT  

 23. Defendant’s enforcement of its Building Code as described above has made 

housing unavailable because of national origin, race, or color and also constitutes discrimination 

in terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of dwellings or in the provision of services 

because of national origin, race, or color in violation of Section 804(a) and Section 804(b) of the 

Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a) and 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b). 

 24. Defendant’s adoption and implementation of the Comprehensive Plan will make 

housing unavailable because of national origin, race, or color in violation of Section 804(a) of 

the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a). 

 25. The conduct of Defendant, through its officials, described above, constitutes a 

violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq. 

 26. There are persons who have been injured by defendant's discriminatory actions as 

described above and are aggrieved persons as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 3602(i). These persons have 

suffered, or may have suffered, damages as a result of Defendant's discriminatory conduct. 

 27. Defendant's conduct has been intentional, willful, and taken in disregard of the 

rights of Hispanic residents of the Village of Wheeling, particularly Homeowners and their 

mobile home community. 
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REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF 

 28. Homeowners, on the one hand, and Defendant, on the other hand, have adverse 

legal interests, and there is a substantial controversy between the parties that the Court can 

resolve by declaring the parties’ respective rights.   

 29. Homeowners have an interest in and a right to remain an owner of their homes, 

including the right to afforded a fair opportunity to bring their homes into compliance with 

Defendant’s Building Code within the time frame set forth in the Building Code.    

 30. Homeowners are to a declaration, inter alia, that that Defendant cannot apply 

discriminatory criteria and selectively enforce sections of the Building Code to deprive them of 

their homes; that Defendant cannot implement the Comprehensive Plan designed to deprive them 

of their homes; and that Defendant cannot continue prosecuting them for Building Code 

violations without giving them building permits and time to make needed repairs. 

 31. Inasmuch as fees for wrongfully-denied building permits and fines have been 

charged against Homeowners due to the wrongful and discriminatory conduct of Defendant, 

Homeowners seek a declaration that such charges are unlawful and an order providing for a 

refund or credit of such charges, including associated interest, financial charges and damages, 

court costs and attorney fees, and an appropriate accounting thereof.   

 32. Homeowners seek corresponding injunctive relief, including a Court order that 

Defendant is restrained from bringing any administrative or other action to dispossess them of 

their homes.  

 JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury on all claims and issues which have a right for a jury 

to render judgment. 

Case: 1:13-cv-06509 Document #: 1 Filed: 09/11/13 Page 7 of 10 PageID #:7



 WHEREFORE, the Homeowners, listed on Exhibit A, pray that the Court enter an ORDER 

that: 

 1. Declares that the actions of the Defendant described herein constitute violations of the 

Fair Housing Act; 

 2. Enjoins the defendant, its officials, agents, and employees, and all other persons in active 

concert or participation with it, from continuing to discriminate on the basis of national origin, 

race, or color in violation of 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq.; 

 3. Requires such actions by the Defendant as may be necessary to restore all persons 

aggrieved by Defendant's discriminatory housing practices to the position they would have 

occupied but for the Defendant's discriminatory conduct; 

 4. Issues a Temporary Restraining Order restraining Defendant from further prosecuting 

ordinance violations or administrative remedies against Homeowners. 

 5. Awards monetary damages to each person aggrieved by Defendant's discriminatory 

housing practices pursuant for actual, compensatory, pain and suffering, punitive damages, and 

attorney’s fees and costs of bringing this action. 

  6. For such other relief as justice may require. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

    HOMEOWNERS 

 

 

     /s/Kelli Dudley 

    By: ___________________________________ 

    Kelli Dudley, Attorney for Plaintiff Homeowners 

 

Kelli Dudley, The Law Office of Kelli Dudley 

9130 S. Houston Ave., 1st Floor  

Chicago, IL 60617-4319 

Ph: 312-771-9770 Email: attorneykelli@sbcglobal.net 

ID #6279068 
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EXHIBIT A 

PAGE 1 OF 2 

 

HOMEOWNERS OWNING UNITS AT THE COMMON ADDRESS 573 MILWAUKEE 

AVENUE, WHEELING, ILLINOIS  60090-5066 

 

NAME UNIT NUMBER MINOR CHILDREN IN 

UNIT 

Ranulto Teran 1 3 

Elena Corona 1  

   

Juan G. Lara 2  

Maria I. Lara 2  

Arturo Lara 2  

   

Saul Cruz 6 3 

Emma Cisneros 6  

   

Cesar Herrera 7 1 

Daisi Cisneros 7  

Angel Herrera 7  

   

Aned Hernandez 8 1 

   

Ken Nash 9  

Linda Abrahamson 9  

   

Lynn Jones 11  

   

Herbert Wolff 12  

   

Esteban Barrera, Jr. 13 2 

Reyna Velazquez 13  

   

Nahucelio Guadalupe 14 3 

Inocencia Guadalupe 14  

   

Jean Piatrowski 16  

   

Roberto Flores 20 2 

Sylvia Bahena Navarro 20  

   

Wendy Lara 25  

Denise Lara 25  
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Javier Sanchez 26  

   

Juan Carlos Rodriguez 27  

Lucy Bravo 27  

Leonardo Bravo 27  

   

Elias Carreno 30 2 

Maria Carreno 30  

   

Esteban Barrera, Sr. 32 2 

Mercedes Barrera   

Jose A. Guillen   

   

Ernesto Garcia 33 3 

Leonardo Chan 34 5 

Claudia Chan 34  

   

Osvaldo Chavez 35  

   

Evangelina Ortiz 37 2 

Felipe Ortiz 37  

   

Pablo Moncada 38 1 

Felipe L. Moncada 38  

Elina Martinez 38  

   

Fernando J. Manrique 39 2 

Linda Lara 39  

   

Eloy Hernandez 43 3 

Marciela Hernandez 43  

   

Javier Barrera 43-A 2 

Mai Delores Barrera 43-A  

Alejandra Barrera 43-A  
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